SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 90,165 LT CASE NO. 82-352-CF-B (Martin County)

ALPHONSO CAVE,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

FILED SECTIONS

NOV 17 1997

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT By Charl Dopuby Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA (Criminal Division)

Jeffrey H. Garland, Esquire Florida Bar No. 320765 Kirschner & Garland, P.A. 102 N. Second Street Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 (561) 489-2200 Counsel for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

- 1. State of Florida Plaintiff/Appellee
- 2. Alphonso Cave
 Defendant/Appellant
 Union Correctional Institution

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Alphonso Cave is the Appellant. The Appellant will also be referred to by name or as the "Defendant".

The State of Florida is the Appellee and will also be referred to as the "State".

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment imposing the death penalty entered by Senior Circuit Judge C. Pfeiffer Trowbridge (R1258-64, 77-80) in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Judge Trowbridge was also specially appointed by the Chief Judge to try this case in the Sixth Judicial Circuit pursuant to a change of trial venue.

The symbol "R", followed by the page number, will refer to the documentary portion of the record on appeal. The documents appear in volumes 1-8.

The symbol "T", followed by the page number, will refer to the transcript portion of the record on appeal. The transcripts appear in volumes 9-26.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

PRE-TRIAL MATTERS

The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida entered a habeas corpus order vacating the sentence of death and requiring a new sentencing hearing. The district court's decision was affirmed on appeal and this resentencing follows. *See Cave v. Singletary*, 971 F.2d 1513 (11th Cir. 1992).

Pursuant to the habeas corpus order, a resentencing commenced on May 3, 1993 in Pinellas County, Florida. Cave was sentenced to death in conformance with the jury recommendation of death. A timely appeal followed.

The Florida Supreme Court vacated the death penalty and remanded for a new sentencing hearing. *Cave v. State*, 660 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1995). This resentencing follows.

CONSTITUTIONAL OBJECTIONS

The trial court heard and denied Defendant's Pre-Trial Motions #5-19(SR) and #30(SR) (T16-19, R25-81, 110-186, 429-46). These motions dealt with procedural and constitutional attacks on the death penalty statute and the standard jury instructions.

PRELIMINARY MOTIONS AND JURY INSTRUCTION OBJECTIONS

On October 14, 1996, Cave presented his Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus AD Testificandum argument and ancillary matters, which were denied (T50-63, R312-323). The petition was denied as were Cave's extraordinary appeals to the Florida Supreme Court and to the United States Supreme Court. On November 12, 1996, Cave presented a number of pre-trial motions and objections for consideration by the court (T79-223). These objections were denied (R1202, 04).

Cave submitted the "preliminary instruction" portion of Defendant's Special Requested Jury Instruction #1 for consideration which was denied (T176-86, R777-98). The trial court overruled Defendant's objections to the court's preliminary instructions (T185-86, 222-23, R1212-13).

THE STATE'S CASE IN CHIEF

The victim, Frances Julia Slater, was working the 11 p.m. - 7 a.m. shift on the night of April 26, 27, 1982 at a Stuart convenience store¹. The store manager² checked on Ms. Slater and confirmed that she was still working at approximately 2:20 a.m. (T948). At approximately 3:00 a.m., a customer³ found the store empty and the cash register appearing to have been tampered with. After two or three minutes the customer called the police. The police arrived within five minutes (T980-983).

After arriving at the store, Officer Margaret Schwarz found the clerk was missing. She observed Ms. Slater's car still parked in the parking lot and the cash register open, but with no cash (T993). The drop safe hd been tampered with (T998-999). The clerk's purse was found beneath the counter (T1005).

Officer Schwarz's investigation established that a cooler could not be locked from the outside (T1006). Likewise, neither the bathroom nor a back storage area could be locked from the outside (T1006-07, 955-56). It would not have been possible to have locked the clerk

¹ The Lil' General store was located on the north side of Stuart, Martin County, Florida near the intersection of U.S. Highway 1 and State Road 707 (T943,47).

² Karen Pergilozzi

³ Mark Hall

inside these areas.

The ensuing investigation located a motorist who happened to be stopped at a traffic light not far from the subject store a few minutes before 3:00 a.m.⁴ The motorist observed three (3) black men inside the store and a fourth black man sitting in the back, passenger side seat of an older car parked in front of the store. She had a clear sight of the men in the store (T962). The men appeared to be nervous (T963). After the light changed, the motorist drove on for a short distance. She stopped at a Fina station and saw a clock showing 3:00 a.m. (T961-62, 969, 972, 974-75).

The store manager was summoned. She found that money was missing from the register and floor safe (T949). She estimated that approximately \$134.00 was gone (T949-950).

The clerk's body was discovered in the late afternoon of the following day. It was found in a swale along side a rural highway (T1009-10). The area where the body was found was primarily agricultural and undeveloped land (T1012). There were, however, at least three homes within 200 yards of where the body was found (T1059-61; *see* T1023). The body was found approximately 12-13 miles from the L'il General Store (T1011).

It was estimated that it would have taken approximately 15-20 minutes to drive from the convenience store where the body was found. This assumed that the driver observed normal speed limits at approximately 3:00 a.m. in 1982 (T1012).

State's Exhibit #13 is a sketch describing the area where the body was recovered. The

⁴ Danielle Girouard

sketch includes measurements of a tire impression. The overall length of the tire track was 55 feet. The body was found approximately 17 feet on the west side of the paved portion of the highway (T1035-36, R1368). The tire marks appeared to be made by a vehicle proceeding west bound (T1037)⁵. The body was found "close" to where the tire marks began (T1036).⁶

The crime scene technician, Lt. Thomas Madigan, testified that the body was found laying on its right side on the sloping portion of the swail (T1062-63). Photographs were taken after the crime scene had been secured and before the body had been tampered with (T1062, 1019, 1023-25, State's Exhibit #3).

During the early morning hours of April 27, 1982, St. Lucie County Deputy Timothy Bargo was on routine patrol on Rangeline Road in southwest St. Lucie County (T1078-79). Shortly before 4:00 a.m., Deputy Bargo observed a northbound vehicle which had a "flickering" tail light (T1083). Deputy Bargo conducted a traffic stop of the vehicle after it had turned right on Glades Cut-Off Road in the same direction as Fort Pierce (T1084-85).

As part of the traffic stop, he determined that John Earl Bush was driving the 1975 Buick Century⁷ (T1173, 1086-87). After Deputy Bargo ran each of the names, he told Bush that he was free to go but should have the tail light corrected (T1093-99).

⁵ The road was SR 76 in Martin County, Florida. Indiantown was the next town to the west. Rangeline Road links Indiantown and the back side of Ft. Pierce (see T1130-1132, R1368 [State's Exhibit #1 - St. Lucie/Martin County map]).

 $^{^6}$ State's Exhibit 11 is a photograph showing the position of the body in relation to the tire track (T1032, R1368).

⁷Bush's car was a two door (T1173). See State's Exhibit #28, a photograph depicting the car (T1065-66, R1369).

The following information was given by the car occupants to Deputy Bargo (and illustrated by a drawing introduced as State's Exhibit #36) (T1088, 95 R1369):

- John Earl Bush was the driver (identified by driver license) (R1369,
 State's Exhibit #27);
- 2. Mike Goodman was in the front passenger seat. He gave a birth date of June 11, 1963 (no identification). Deputy Bargo described him as having "no longer than medium hair dressed casually and medium build." He was estimated by Deputy Bargo to be 6 feet tall and 150-160 pounds (T1096, 1108-09) Parker was shown to have been born on June 11, 1963 (T1156-57, R1370, State's Exhibit #33);
- 3. Willie Jerome Brown was in the rear passenger-side seat. He gave a birth date of January 28, 1958 (no identification) (T1096); Johnson was shown to have been born on January 27,1957 (T1157, R1370, State's Exhibit #34).
- 4. Alphonso King Brown was in the rear driver-side seat. He gave a birth date of November 12, 1958 (no identification) (T1088, 1092-94, 1096). Cave was shown to have been born on November 12, 1958 (T1163-64).

Deputy Bargo did not smell alcohol on Bush's breath or about his person. He testified that Bush had no problem with balance, speech, no erratic driving or other indication of intoxication (T1097; 1112-13). He questioned the passengers from a position just outside the driver's door. He did not smell the odor of alcohol emanating either from the car or from the persons in the car (T1098, 1114) but he did see an empty liquor bottle on the driver's side

⁸ Deputy Bargo was only able to give a vague description of the back seat passengers. He described them as being "casually dressed, some with a hairstyle and very little further" (T1111-12).

rear floorboard (T1112). He testified that the behavior of the passengers, including their speech, did not indicate intoxication (T1098-99).

Deputy Bargo had left the scene when he was advised by dispatch that there was a problem with the registration. As a result, Deputy Bargo stopped the Bush vehicle a second time (T1099-1100). During the second stop, Deputy Bargo obtained the vehicle identification number from Bush's vehicle in an attempt to clear up the problem. The identification number confirmed that Bush was the proper owner of the car so he was told he could go (T1100-01).

At that point the Bush vehicle would not start. Bush and the front seat passenger got out and looked under the hood.¹⁰ After a short period of time the car started and left (T1101).

Deputy Bargo admitted speaking with Investigator Ranew because Ranew was gathering information in connection with this murder investigation (T1107, 09). He did not remember telling Ranew that Goodman weighed approximately 200 lbs. with a round face, scraggly beard and heavy muscular build (T1109-10). He denied telling investigator Ranew that the back seat passenger on the driver's side might have some type of mental problem (T1114). Although he was somewhat hesitant in answering, Deputy Bargo said that Alphonso Brown did not appear confused and did not have difficulty speaking (T1117-18).

⁹Cpl. Willie Williams was present during the second stop as a back up officer (T1104), but he did not testify at this resentencing.

¹⁰ The rear seat passengers never got out of the car (T1093, 1110).

¹¹ Sheriff Crowder testified that, as of May 4, 1982, J.B. Parker "was a fairly muscular individual...probably five ten to maybe six feet tall. He could have weighed 185 to 200 pounds." (T1143).

Miles J. Heckendorn, III, a lieutenant in the identification section, spoke with Deputy Bargo by telephone on April 29, 1982 about the early morning stop (T1160-62). Heckendorn testified that the actual birth date of J.B. Parker matched the birth date given by "Mike Goodman". He testified that the actual birth date of Terry Wayne Johnson nearly matched the birth date given by "Willie Jerome Brown". The differences were that January 27, 1957 (Terry Wayne Johnson) as compared to January 28, 1958 (Willie Jerome Brown). He testified that the actual birth date of Alphonso Cave was identical to the birth date given by "Alphonso Brown" (T1163-64).

During the course of the autopsy examination, Dr. Ronald Wright observed a "very superficial" cut on the ring finger. The laceration may have been caused by either something sharp or dull (T1198-99). He could not determine whether the laceration occurred at or about the time of death or even whether it might have occurred two or three hours before the time of death (T1220).

The examination disclosed a stab wound the victim's abdomen (T1199) which was caused by a single-bladed knife. The wound penetrated into the colon, a distance of approximately two inches. A wound of this nature would be expected to cause great pain, said Dr. Wright, if the victim was still alive when the wound was inflicted (T1201-04).

The victim did not feel pain from the gunshot because brain death was instantaneous (T1213). Despite evidence of bleeding at the abdominal stab wound, Dr. Wright was not able to say whether the knife wound was inflicted before or after the gunshot. If the knife wound was inflicted after the gunshot wound, Dr. Wright agreed that there would have been no pain

associated with the knife wound (T1217).12

During the course of the autopsy examination, Dr. Wright observed that the slacks were stained in the area of the right hip (T1221). He agreed that it was impossible to say whether the urine release was a post-mortem phenomenon or a pre-mortem phenomenon (T1224). Dr. Wright was simply unable to determine how the bladder became voided (T1225).¹³

A crime scene technician collected evidence at the autopsy. This evidence included head hair combings and the bullet. He took these items to the crime laboratory for further processing (T1055, 69).

The crime scene technician also collected carpet fibers from several places within Ms. Slater's residence. These carpet fiber exemplars where returned to the crime lab for further processing (T1056).

As the yellowish fibers obtained from Bush's vehicle and the victim's clothing were indistinguishable from carpet exemplars from the victim's home, Nippes formed the opinion that the carpet fibers could have been first transferred from the carpet to the victim's clothing, then transferred to Bush's car as a result of the victim's presence in the car. This would be an example, Nippes said, of secondary transfer (T1175-81, R1369, State's Exhibit

 $^{^{12}}$ The autopsy disclosed no other indications of injury such as bruising, burns or ligature marks (T1210-11).

¹³During the course of redirect examination, Dr. Wright acknowledged that the urine stain and body positioning were "probably a little bit more consistent with it (the urination) being post-mortem", but he also said the complete "emptying of the bladder on the other hand...is highly improbable for it to have occurred at any time other than while she was alive" (T1228). It should be noted, however, that these latter comments were made over Defendant's relevancy objections based on Section 90.401 and 90.403. The Defendant argued that such opinion was irrelevant if not held within a reasonable degree of medical certainty or, if marginally admissible, the probative value would be outweighed by the prejudice of the speculation (T1226-27).

#23).

Also located on the victim's clothing was a bluish carpet fiber. This fiber was compared to carpet fiber exemplars taken from Bush's vehicle. Nippes testified that the bluish fiber from the victim's clothing was indistinguishable from the exemplars taken from Bush's vehicle (T1177-78). Nippes testified that the presence of the blue carpet fiber on the victim's clothing would be consistent with a primary transfer resulting from contact with the Bush vehicle (T1181-82).

A Caucasian head hair was also recovered from the Bush vehicle (T1177). Nippes testified that this hair was indistinguishable from head hair exemplars obtained from the victim during the autopsy (T1182).¹⁴

Further examination of the head hair suggested that the hair had been "prematurely extracted from the scalp" due to the presence of "molecular tissue attached to the root". Nippes suggested that the hair might have been "forcibly removed" (T1183-84).

Nippes acknowledged that it was "pretty hard to say" how much force it would take to remove a human hair. He said:

You can remove a hair, it can take a lot of force or not a lot of force. Depending on how many you are grabbing it may take quite a bit, or you can actually extract hairs prematurely from fingers manipulation of the scalp with a hairbrush or teasing as women do so, you know, it all depends on what stage the hair is in. But kind of hard to say how much force.

Nippes was not able to say whether the hair had been "yanked" out of the victim's head. He

¹⁴ The yellow carpet fibers and single Caucasian head hair were all found in what Nippes described as the right-rear quadrant of the vehicle (T1184-86). This quadrant included the seat, the floor and the hump area (T1177).

acknowledged that a hair might be removed by brushing or by rubbing against a course object (T1186-87).

Nippes further acknowledged that the hair may have been removed from the victim's head at a different location. He specifically agreed that it was consistent with the evidence for the subject hair to have been removed someplace else, such as at her home, then deposited upon her clothing or about her person. It would have been consistent with his examination that the hair was deposited into the Bush car as a result of a secondary transfer. In short, Nippes admitted that he could not determine where the hair had been removed from the victim's scalp (T1187-88).

Nippes confirmed that crime scene photographs depicted a hair braid in the victim's hand. He acknowledged that the forensic examination of the victim's clothing disclosed another hair braid in the pocket of the white slacks. Nippes specifically agreed that it would be very common for an elastic-type hair braid to prematurely remove hair from the scalp (T1188-89, State's Exhibits #3 and #4, T1041, 63).

During the course of the examination of the Bush vehicle for trace evidence, Nippes made a point to look for evidence of a urine stain. There was no evidence found of urine or a urine stain in the rear seat area of the Bush vehicle (T1190-91) and, therefore, no correlation to the urine stains found on the victim's pants.

In the early morning hours of May 5, 1982, Detective Lloyd Jones met with Cave at the Fort Pierce State Attorney's Office (T1239-40). Cave initially denied any knowledge or involvement in the homicide, abduction and robbery (T1242). After this denial, the tape recording of the Bush statement was played for Cave. After hearing this statement, Cave

told Detective Jones that he committed the armed robbery, took the victim out of the store, and put her into the car; that the victim pleaded for her life while being transported in the car; that Bush stabbed her; that Parker shot her; and that the victim had said she would do anything to be let free (T1243-44).

Detective Jones stated that Cave continued to cooperate and gave a tape recorded statement (T1250-51). In this tape recorded statement, Cave admitted being with Bush, Parker and Johnson (T1258); admitted "casing" the store earlier that night (T1270-71); said he, himself, had the gun, went into the store, and demanded money (T1258, 59), which she gave to Bush (T1270); and that the victim pulled money out of the cash register (T1259). She got the rest of the money from the floor safe (T1259, 1270), then they put her in the car (T1259).

Cave said that he and Johnson discussed letting the clerk go (T1420-21, 26-27); that, after the car stopped, everyone got out of the car; that Bush stuck the girl with the knife, then she fell; and that Parker shot her in the head. Cave said he actually saw Bush knife her; and was certain Parker shot her with Bush's .38 caliber pistol (T1259-60). Cave said that she was shot lying down; and that Parker was standing right over her when he shot her (T1260). Cave said he was drunk, but knew what he was doing (T1262). Cave denied knowing she was going to be killed and denied any plan to kill the clerk (T1265-66). After the killing, Bush was driving back to Fort Pierce when the car was stopped twice (T1261). The money from the robbery was split up at the rooming house where Cave lived (T1264-65).

In advance of and at trial the Defendant had moved to preclude victim impact testimony. These objections were overruled (T1655-63, R1219-25 [Special Requested Jury

Instruction #2 (SR)], 1008-25 [Pretrial Motion #30(SR)], 1202 [Order denying]. Specific objections were set forth at trial concerning the appropriateness of the victim impact testimony (T1285-87, 1292-93).

The victim's twin sister, Sherry Lee Wojcieszak, gave a compelling eulogy on behalf of her deceased sister. Ms. Wojcieszak's description of the victim did not connect her personality traits to uniqueness and loss to the community (T1283-89).

The victim's mother, Sally Slater, delivered a gripping description of the adverse impact that this homicide had upon both the witness and her family. There was no connecting of this testimony to the effect on the community at large (T1292-96).

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