SID J. WHITE

FEB 19 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLEAK,	SUPPEME	COURT
Øh	el Deputy Ci	erk

ALPHONSO CAVE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 90,165 L.T. Case No. 82-352 CF B (Martin County)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DAVID M. SCHULTZ
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0874523
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401
(561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

post-mortem discharge, but it was "highly improbable" for the bladder to have completely emptied at any time other than when the victim was alive (TV 20, 1228/1-9).

Dr. Wright made it clear that the great likelihood was that the discharge occurred while Frances Slater was alive. Certainly, reasonable minds would accept his testimony as adequate support for the conclusion that the discharge was pre-mortem. Therefore, there was competent substantial evidence of this fact.

Even if there were not competent substantial evidence to support such a finding, any error would be harmless. As appellant pointed out, this fact was used to establish the victim's pain (AB The trial court also used this fact to support the fear 75). experienced by Frances Slater to support his finding of the HAC aggravator (R 1259). Each of these facts was proven by other competent substantial evidence. Dr. Wright testified that the stab wound would have caused great pain (TV 20, 1202/17-1203/13). Appellant's mother testified that appellant told her that Frances Slater was yelling and crying and begging them not to hurt her (TV 22, 1589/23-1591/13). Further, Detective Jones testified that appellant told him that Frances Slater was begging for her life while en route to the murder scene (TV 21, 1245/7-11). incorrectly admitted evidence is deemed harmless and may not be grounds for reversal when it is essentially the same as or merely corroborative of other properly considered testimony. Erickson v.

State, 565 So. 2d 328, 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); See Burr v. State, 550 So. 2d 444, 446 (Fla. 1989). Further, there is no reasonable possibility of a different outcome, even absent the bladder release evidence. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

POINT XII

WHETHER THE HAC JURY INSTRUCTION WAS DEFECTIVE AND UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Appellant argues that both the HAC aggravator and the standard jury instruction relating to HAC are unconstitutionally vague. The trial court read the new standard jury instruction (TV 24, 1804/20-1805/8). This Court holds that the new standard instruction defines the terms sufficiently to save both the instruction and the aggravator from a vagueness challenge. Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186. 201 (Fla. 1997); Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 109 (1993); Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992). Appellant has provided no adequate reason for this Court to recede from its ruling.

POINT XIII

WHETHER THE HAC AGGRAVATOR IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Appellant has waived review of this issue, because he has raised the claim by simply referring to argument made below without further elucidation. *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990), *vacated*, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992). Nonetheless, see Point XII above. Further, the United States Supreme Court upheld

the HAC aggravating circumstance against a vagueness challenge in Proffit v. Florida, 428 U.S. 2960 (1976).

POINT XIV

WHETHER THE "AVOID ARREST" JURY INSTRUCTION WAS DEFECTIVE AND UNCONSTITUTIONAL

that this instruction was also argues Appellant unconstitutionally vague. Although appellant indicates that the trial court merely gave the standard instruction in regard to this aggravating circumstance (AB 79), the instruction given was modified by adding the last sentence concerning the elimination of a witness as the sole or dominant motive of the murder (AB 79, TV 24, 1804/14-16). This modification was made as a result of appellant's having requested a modification to the standard jury instruction in his Special Requested Jury Instruction #4 (AB 79, R 1229-30). At the charge conference, the prosecutor first indicated that he would not object to the witness elimination aspect of the request but did object to the residual of the requested instruction on the basis that it was contrary to the law in Florida (TV 23, 1613/9). The prosecutor suggested the following instruction:

The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting escape from custody (the standard portion). In order to prove this circumstance, the state must show that the sole or dominant motive for the murder was the elimination of a witness (the amended portion given). This factor may be proved by circumstantial evidence from which the motive

of the murder may be inferred without direct evidence of the offender's thought process (the portion not given) (TV 23, 1668/17-1669/21).

Appellant responded that his suggested language was a direct quote from Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157, 1164 (Fla. 1992) (TV 23, 1669/23). In his written request, appellant also cited to Perry v. State, 522 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1988) (R 1230). Appellant went on to advise the court that they might be able to modify the instruction to reflect both party's concerns, but that "[c]learly, the case law is held that the sole or dominant motive for the murder had to be witness elimination" (TV 23, 1670/6-12). The prosecutor then stated, "Well, if I may, Mr. Garland, then we would agree just to leave it at that. In order for the State -- In order to prove this circumstance, the State must show that the sole or dominant motive for the murder would be elimination of a witness period." (TV 23, 1670/13-19). The trial court then indicated that he would likely modify the instruction accordingly upon seeing the final version (TV 23, 1671/17-1672/8). Appellant made no further comment at the time in regard to this instruction, and the parties went on to discuss other matters (TV 23, 1673/5). The next day, when the trial court was given the final version of the jury instructions, appellant's only comment was that they were subject to his previous objections (TV 24, 1680/7-16).

This issue has not been preserved for appellate review. After both appellant and the prosecutor expressed a desire to have more

additional language to the standard instruction, than that regarding the sole or dominant motive, appellant stressed that this motive language is clearly the law in Florida, upon which the prosecutor suggested that this language alone be added as a compromise. Although appellant never expressly agreed, he made no further objections in regard to this specific modification to this instruction. The next day, appellant only generally indicated that the final version of the instructions should be subject to his prior objections.

In order to preserve for appellate review an issue regarding a jury instruction during the penalty phase, a contemporaneous objection must be made. James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993); Vaught v. State, 410 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1982). The contemporaneous objection rule requires the objection to be sufficiently specific to apprise the trial judge of the putative error and to preserve the issue for review. Gainer v. State, 633 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). In Lacy v. State, 387 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), the appellate court found that the issue had not been preserved for appeal, where although there was some discussion during the charge conference as to the clarity and meaning of an instruction no clear objection had been made. State would argue that appellant did not sufficiently apprise the trial court of an objection or of the court's putative error to preserve this issue for appellate review.

Certainly, appellant has waived any objection to the language eventually added to the standard instruction, in that this language was requested by appellant (R 1229). Furthermore, the additional language requested by appellant was improper and properly denied by the trial court. Appellant requested the sentence, "The mere fact that the decedent knew and 14 could identify Alphonso Cave is insufficient to prove this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt" (R 1230). The prosecutor objected to this sentence as an incorrect statement of the law, citing to Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992). The Preston opinion does not include this language, and in Preston, much like this case, the defendant murdered a night clerk at a convenience store whom he did not know. On the other hand, appellant cited to Geralds and Perry, which both did include this language. However, in Geralds the defendant was a carpenter who had remodeled the victim's home. In Perry, the defendant was a former neighbor of the victim. Both Geralds and Perry cited to Caruthers v. State, 465 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1985), where, like here, the victim was a clerk at a convenience store. However, in Caruthers, not like in this case, the victim recognized the defendant as a customer of the store.

It is apparent that this language requested by appellant is law applicable only when the victim **knows** and can identify the

 $^{^{14}}$ In his brief, appellant used the conjunction "or" (AB 79); however, in his written request and in the case law, the conjunction used is "and" (R 1230).

defendant, just like it states. This was clearly established in Wike v. State, 698 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1997). In this case, however, there are no record facts to suggest that Frances Slater knew appellant. The fact that she might have been able to identify him does not alone trigger the holdings of the above cases. Therefore, based on appellant's legal support, the trial court was correct to deny this request, since there was no legal justification to modify the standard instruction accordingly. Guzman v. State, 644 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1994).

Appellant also requested the sentence, "The circumstance does not apply where Alphonso Cave or someone with him may have merely panicked while committing another offense" (R 1229-30). Again, in support of this request, appellant cited to Geralds and Perry. Geralds does not address this at all. Furthermore, in this regard Perry merely states that there was no direct evidence of motive, but that there was some evidence that the defendant may have panicked and blacked out during the murder. This statement is not a holding or statement of the law but rather a statement applying the facts of that particular case to the holding that the sole or dominant motive must be witness elimination. Therefore, the trial court also correctly refused to give this portion of the requested instruction.

POINT XV

WHETHER THE AVOIDING ARREST AGGRAVATOR IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL (RESTATED)

Appellant has waived review of this issue, because he has raised the claim by simply referring to argument made below without further elucidation. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990), vacated, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992). Be that as it may, appellant also argues that the avoiding arrest aggravating circumstance is unconstitutionally vague; however, this Court has ruled that it is not. Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861, 867 (Fla. 1994). Appellant has provided no adequate reason for this Court to recede from its ruling.

POINT XVI

WHETHER THE FELONY MURDER JURY INSTRUCTION WAS DEFECTIVE AND UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Appellant also argues that this instruction is unconstitutionally vague and defective because it mirrors the elements of felony murder, making this an automatic aggravator for one convicted of first-degree felony murder. In regard to this being an automatic aggravator, this Court disagreed with this argument in *Blanco v. State*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S575 (Fla. Sept. 18, 1977). The list of enumerated felonies in the provisions defining felony murder is larger than the list of enumerated felonies in the provision defining this aggravating circumstance. Therefore, this

scheme narrows the class of death-eligible defendants. See also Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973, 978 (Fla. 1983).

In regard to the vagueness issue, appellant argues that the instruction has "standards so vague that they fail adequately to channel the sentencing decision patterns of juries with the result that a pattern of arbitrary and capricious sentencing could occur" (AB 82). In support of his argument, appellant cites to Godfrey v. Georgia, 100 S.Ct. 1759 (1980) and Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988). It first needs to be noted that neither of these cases involves a ruling on a felony murder aggravator. In Godfrey the Court found that the Georgia aggravating circumstance, that the offense of murder was outrageously or wantonly vile, horrible and inhuman, was unconstitutionally vague. In Maynard, the Court found that the HAC aggravating circumstance in Oklahoma was vague and overbroad. The Maynard opinion points out that claims of vagueness directed at aggravating circumstances defined in capital punishment Eighth Amendment statutes are analyzed under the characteristically assert that the challenged provision fails adequately to inform juries what they must find to impose the death penalty and therefore leaves them with an open-ended discretion. The opinion went on to state that channeling and limiting the sentencer's discretion is a fundamental constitutional requirement for sufficiently minimizing the risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action.

The standard felony murder instruction given by the trial court states:

[T]he crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of or during flight after committing or attempting to commit the crime of robbery and/or kidnaping TV 24, 1804/3-8).

This instruction could not be more channeling and limiting. The jury clearly had to determine whether the homicide was committed during a robbery or kidnaping, or attempted robbery or kidnaping, or during flight thereafter. Further there is not a single word in the instruction that would not be readily understandable by people of common intelligence. This instruction is nothing like the instructions in *Godfrey* and *Maynard*, where words like outrageously or wantonly vile, horrible, inhuman, and especially heinous, atrocious or cruel were used without limiting definitions. This aggravator and instruction are not unconstitutionally vague.

POINT XVII

WHETHER THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATOR IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Appellant has waived review of this issue, because he has raised the claim by simply referring to argument made below without further elucidation. *Duest* v. *Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990), vacated, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992). Nonetheless, See Point XVI above.

POINT XVIII

WHETHER THE CCP AGGRAVATOR IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Appellant has waived review of this issue, because he has raised the claim by simply referring to argument made below without further elucidation. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990), vacated, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992). Appellant argues that this aggravator is also unconstitutionally vague; however, this Court has rejected this contention. Phillips v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S607 (Fla. Sept. 25, 1997).

POINT XIX

WHETHER THE CCP AGGRAVATOR SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE JURY

This circumstance was not found by the trial court in the first sentencing. In a subsequent habeas proceeding, the 11th Circuit affirmed the District Court's finding that appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel in both phases, but that he was prejudiced only in the penalty phase. Appellant therefore argues that it would be a violation of double jeopardy, due process and law of the case to now find the existence of this aggravator, when the 11th Circuit "did not approve the guilt phase conviction on that basis" (AB 84).

However, this Court has applied the "clean slate" rule to resentencing proceedings, holding that a resentencing is a completely new proceeding and a resentencing judge is not obligated

to make the same findings as the first judge. Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992). A capital sentencer's failure to find a particular aggravating circumstance does not amount to an acquittal of that circumstance for double jeopardy purposes and does not foreclose its reconsideration upon resentencing. Id. Further, because there was no acquittal of the death penalty, the State was not barred from resubmitting the aggravating factors not found by the judge in the original penalty phase proceeding. Id. What a first-sentencing judge finds or does not find in regard to aggravating and mitigating circumstances is not an ultimate fact that collateral estoppel or the law of the case would preclude being rejected on resentencing. King v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1990).

POINT XX

WHETHER THE DEATH PENALTY PROCEDURE IS CONSTITUTIONAL FOR IMPOSING IMPROPER BURDENS OF PROOF OR PERSUASION (RESTATED)

Appellant has waived review of this issue, because he has raised the claim by simply referring to argument made below without further elucidation. *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990), vacated, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992).

Appellant, however, argues that the standard procedure of instructing the jury, that they must be reasonably convinced that

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